2009

Marion Energy, Inc., State of Utah, School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration v. KFJ Ranch Partnership : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

I. JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court, interpreting Utah Code § 78B-6-501(6)(a), incorrectly reached the legal conclusion that this statutory grant of authority for the exercise of eminent domain to reach mineral deposits excludes oil and gas as non-mineral substances?

III. STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

This case is a question of statutory interpretation, which is a question of law. *See, e.g., Sill v. Hart*, 2007 UT 45, ¶ 5, 162 P.3d 1099; *Sachs v. Lesser*, 2008 UT 87, ¶ 9, 207 P.3d 1215. Where the issue on appeal is purely legal in nature, this Court “review[s] the district court’s decision for correctness, without deference.” *Conatser v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 48, ¶ 10, 194 P.3d 897 (quotation omitted).

IV. PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed with the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Carbon County, State of Utah, on September 27, 2009.

V. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

Utah Code § 78B-6-501(6)(a): Subject to the provisions of this part, the right of eminent domain may be exercised on behalf of the following public uses: (6)(a) roads,

railroads, tramways, tunnels, ditches, flumes, pipes, and dumping places to facilitate the milling, smelting, or other reduction of ores, or the working of mines, quarries, coal mines, or mineral deposits including minerals in solution.

Utah Code § 78B-6-501(6)(d): Subject to the provisions of this part, the right of eminent domain may be exercised on behalf of the following public uses: (6)(d) gas, oil or coal pipelines, tanks or reservoirs, including any subsurface stratum or formation in any land for the underground storage of natural gas, and in connection with that, any other interests in property which may be required to adequately examine, prepare, maintain, and operate underground natural gas storage facilities.

Utah Code § 53C-1-103(4): As used in this title: (4) “Mineral” includes oil, gas, and hydrocarbons.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Utah School and Institutional Trust Administration (the “Trust”) owns oil and gas minerals deposited in lands bounded by real property owned and/or controlled by KFJ Ranch Partnership (the “Ranch”). Marion Energy, Inc. (“Marion”) is the Trust’s Lessee of the Trust’s oil and gas deposits. (R.00003, ¶ 10)

Due to location and topography, Marion cannot access the leased premises without crossing Ranch-owned lands. In an effort to gain access to the leased oil and gas deposits, Marion unsuccessfully attempted to negotiate easements from the Ranch. Despite Marion’s good-faith efforts, the Ranch refused to grant Marion any easements, and Marion continued to be without an access route to the leased oil and gas. (R.00006, ¶ 17)

Since it was impossible for Marion to reach the leased oil and gas deposits, or for the Trust to thereby receive royalties from the production of oil and gas thereon, the Trust and Marion brought an action for condemnation in the district court. The condemnation action was founded upon the express rights of eminent domain granted by the legislature and codified as Utah Code § 78B-6-501(6)(a) (“Section 501(6)(a)”) and Utah Code § 78B-6-503. (R.00007, ¶ 20)

On its face, Section 501(6)(a) confers the power of eminent domain for the construction of “roads, railroads, tramways, tunnels, ditches, flumes, pipes, and dumping places to facilitate the milling, smelting, or other reduction of ores, or the working of

mines, quarries, coal mines, **or mineral deposits including minerals in solution.**” (Emphasis added.) (R.000126, ¶ 1)

The Ranch moved to dismiss the Complaint in Condemnation. (R.000073) In response, Marion and the Trust not only opposed the Ranch’s motion (R.000119), but also moved for partial summary judgment on the grounds that, as a matter of law, Utah Code § 78B-6-501, authorizes the power of eminent domain to access Plaintiffs’ leases for the working of oil and gas mineral deposits. (R.000144, ¶ 1)

Given this procedural posture, the district court was faced with the sole question of whether the Trust’s oil and gas deposits sought to be accessed by Marion fell within the scope of “mineral deposits including minerals in solution” as used in Section 501(6)(a).

Following a hearing on the parties’ motions, the district court incorrectly concluded that the legislature purposefully excluded “oil and gas” from Section 501(6)(a). As a result, according to the district court, Marion and the Trust could not rely upon the eminent domain authority set forth therein to reach the oil and gas deposits owned by the Trust situated below real property owned by the Ranch. (R.000216, ¶ 4)

The district court’s holding, as a matter of law, was incorrect and cannot be sustained. This Court consistently has held that the term “minerals” includes oil and gas, and that definition is supported by other authority, including the Trust’s Enabling Act. *See* Utah Code § 53C-1-103(4).

Application of the settled definition of “minerals” to an interpretation of Section 501(6)(a) compels the conclusion that Marion and the Trust properly invoked the statutory authority of eminent domain to access the leased oil and gas deposits. The

district court erred by ignoring the unambiguous meaning of “minerals” and by impermissibly applying principles of statutory construction to an unambiguous statutory provision. Moreover, the district court’s ruling would result in an absurd result that cannot be supported or affirmed.

VII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Marion is the lessee of oil and gas leases ML-48130 and ML-48132 (the “Leases”), which it leased from the Trust. Pursuant to the Leases, the Trust remains the reversionary interest owner. (R.00003, ¶ 10) Both Leases are overlain by surface owned by or under permit to the Ranch.

Specifically, Lease ML-48130 covers the following lands:

Township 12 South, Range 12 East, SLB&M

Section 21:	N $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, E $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, N $\frac{1}{2}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 22:	SE $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, N $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 23:	SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, W $\frac{1}{2}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 24:	SE $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 25:	E $\frac{1}{2}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 26:	NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 27:	NE $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$
Section 36:	ALL

(containing 1560.00 acres more or less in Carbon County, Utah)

Lease ML-48132 covers the following lands:

Township 12 South, Range 13 East, SLB&M

- Section 19: Lot 10 (44.28 acres), SE $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, W $\frac{1}{2}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$
- Section 20: S $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, SW $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$
- Section 29: NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, W $\frac{1}{2}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$
- Section 30: Lot 1 (46.26 acres), E $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$
- Section 31: Lot 6 (32.47 acres), E $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$
- Section 32: Lot 1 (33.40 acres), Lot 2 (33.18 acres), Lot 3 (33.13 acres), Lot 4 (33.61 acres), N $\frac{1}{2}$ S $\frac{1}{2}$, N $\frac{1}{2}$ (ALL)

(containing 1576.33 acres more or less in Carbon County, Utah) (R.00003-00004, ¶ 10)

To exploit the leased oil and gas deposits, Marion proposed two initial well locations (the “Well Sites”) on surface lands covered by or within the Ranch. Marion’s plans called for the KFJ #20-1 well to be located in the NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 20 in Township 12 South, Range 13 East, SLB&M on Lease ML-48132, in close proximity to the existing road leading from Nine Mile Canyon Road through Sections 17, 21 and 29, also known as the KFJ Ranch Road. (R.00005, ¶ 11)

Marion also proposed to locate the Pole Canyon West #36-1 well in the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 36, Township 12 South, Range 12 East, SLB&M on Lease ML-48130. In an effort to minimize surface disturbances, this well was proposed to be located in close proximity to the existing road, known as the Pole Canyon Road, running south from Nine Mile Canyon Road through Sections 24 and 25 and into State Section 36. (R.00005, ¶ 12)

If the wells drilled on the Well Sites proved to be commercially productive, Marion intended to install pipelines connecting to the wells in or near these existing roads in efforts to further minimize surface damage to the KFJ Ranch. (R.00005, ¶ 13)

Because of the topography and the location of the lands covered by the Leases, however, it was impossible for Marion to access the Leases without crossing surface lands owned and/or controlled by the Ranch. As a result, Marion engaged in substantive, good-faith efforts to negotiate easements (the “Easements”) from the Ranch. (R.00006, ¶ 17)

Despite these efforts, however, the Ranch refused to enter into any agreement with Marion with respect to either the locations of or the compensation to be paid to the Ranch for Easements across the Ranch. (R.000130)

Left without any means of accessing the Leases and the leased oil and gas deposits, Marion sought to avail itself of the legislatively enacted condemnation rights. Pursuant to Utah Code § 78B-6-505, Marion advised the Ranch of its rights to mediation and arbitration under Utah Code § 78B-6-522, provided the name and current telephone number of the office of the State of Utah Private Property Ombudsman, and gave the Ranch a written statement explaining that oral representations or promises made during the negotiation process were not binding upon Marion. (R.00006, ¶ 18)

Marion also retained J. Philip Cook, MAI, CRE, Utah State-Certified General Appraiser, Certificate 5451057-CG00, of LECG, LLC, to appraise the property to be taken from the Ranch for use as the Easements (the “KFJ Appraisal”). In the KFJ Appraisal, Mr. Cook arrived at a total value for the Easements of \$28,000, reflecting a

rounded valuation of the perpetual easement sought by Marion (valued at \$24,868), in addition to the temporary construction easement also requested by Marion (valued at \$3,040). The bases for the valuations were set forth in detail in the KFJ Appraisal. (R.00007, ¶ 24, 25)

Because the Trust, as the reversionary interest owner of the Leases, desired to have Marion exploit the oil and gas deposits on the Leases and thereby pay the prescribed royalties to and for the benefit of the Trust, Marion and the Trust filed a Complaint in Condemnation (the “Complaint”) in the Seventh Judicial District Court, in and for Carbon County (the “district court”). (R.00001-00009)

After being served with the Complaint, the Ranch moved to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure asserting that the Trust and Marion did “not have the authority under the condemnation statute to take Defendant’s private land for roads to access oil and gas leases.” (R.00073, ¶ 1) Marion and the Trust opposed the Ranch’s Motion to Dismiss and also moved for partial summary judgment for a determination “that Utah Code § 78B-6-501 authorizes Plaintiffs to condemn an easement to access Trust oil and gas leases.” (R.000144, ¶ 1)

Following a hearing on August 5, 2009, the district court issued a Judgment and Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment (the “Judgment”). In the Judgment, the district court held that Section 501(6)(a) “does not provide authority to take lands for roads to access oil and gas deposits.” (R.000216, ¶ 3)

Marion and the Trust appealed the Judgment to this Court. (R.000219)

VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The district court incorrectly held that the legislature purposefully excluded oil and gas from Section 501(6)(a) and, as a result, Marion and the Trust could not rely upon the eminent domain authority set forth therein to reach the Trust's oil and gas deposits situated below real property owned by the Ranch.

The district court's holding, as a matter of law, was incorrect and cannot be sustained. This Court consistently has held that the term "minerals" includes oil and gas, and that definition is supported by other authority, including the definition of "mineral" expressed in the Trust's Enabling Act. Utah Code § 53C-1-103(4).

Application of the settled definition of "minerals" to the construction of Section 501(6)(a) compels the conclusion that Marion and the Trust properly invoked the statutory authority of eminent domain to access the leased oil and gas deposits. The district court erred by ignoring the unambiguous meaning of "minerals" and by impermissibly applying principles of statutory construction to an unambiguous statutory provision. Moreover, the district court's ruling would result in an absurd result that cannot be supported or affirmed. The district court's holding was, as a matter of law, incorrect and cannot be sustained.

IX. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT INCORRECTLY INTERPRETED UTAH CODE SECTION 501(6)(a) BY CONCLUDING THAT THE STATUTORY GRANT OF AUTHORITY FOR THE EXERCISE OF EMINENT DOMAIN TO REACH MINERAL DEPOSITS EXCLUDES OIL AND GAS AS NON-MINERAL SUBSTANCES.

In plain and unambiguous terms, Section 501(6)(a) confers the power of eminent domain for the construction of “roads, railroads, tramways, tunnels, ditches, flumes, pipes, and dumping places to facilitate the milling, smelting, or other reduction of ores, or the working of mines, quarries, coal mines, or mineral deposits including minerals in solution.” The only question addressed by the district court and the only question relevant to this appeal is whether the leased oil and gas deposits sought to be accessed by Marion and the Trust are within the ambit of “mineral deposits including minerals in solution” that may be accessed by resort to the powers of eminent domain.

This Court consistently has held that the term “minerals” includes oil and gas, and that definition is supported by other authority, including the definition of “mineral” contained in the Trust’s Enabling Act. *See* Utah Code § 53C-1-103(4). The district court’s judgment excluding oil and gas as non-mineral substances outside the reach of the statute constitutes reversible error.

1. Over 100 Years of Precedent Demonstrates that the Term “Minerals” Unequivocally includes Oil and Gas Deposits.

For more than 100 years, Utah courts consistently have held that the term “minerals” includes oil and gas deposits. The district court’s Judgment impermissibly ignores and repudiates this long-standing authority.

In *Nephi Plaster & Mfg. Co. v. Juab County*, 33 Utah 114, 93 P. 53, 54 (Utah 1907), the court construed the taxing statute in Utah’s 1898 Revised Statutes, which read, in relevant part: “[a]ll mines and mining claims, both placer and rock in place, containing or bearing gold, silver, copper, lead, coal or other valuable mineral deposits” In considering whether the statutory term “mineral deposits” was to be read restrictively or expansively, and after review of the numerous authorities and cases cited therein, the court concluded:

We think that it is reasonably clear that the phrase “or other valuable mineral deposits,” was not intended to contain minerals only *ejusdem generis* with the metals specially named, but that it was intended that **all mineral deposits** should be taxed in this way, **and not only the metalliferous minerals and coal.**

Id. at 57 (emphasis added).

Though the *Nephi Plaster* decision was limited to “a gypsum deposit, and nothing else[.]” the court’s conclusions are particularly applicable to the present case because the term “mines” was held not to be “limited to mere subterranean excavations or workings,” nor was the term “minerals” **“limited to the metals or metalliferous deposits”** *Id.* at 58 (emphasis added).

This Court’s expansive definition of “minerals” in *Nephi Plaster* consistently has been reaffirmed and reiterated, and has been utilized to mandate the inclusion of oil and gas within the term. In *Utah Copper Co. v. Montana-Bingham Consol. Mining Co.*, 69 Utah 423, 255 P. 672, 673 (Utah 1926), this Court considered “a perpetual grant or easement to dump ore, rock, and earth, and other material, on the surface of a portion of the mining claim of the defendant” In reviewing a condemnation action, the *Utah Copper* court held that the plaintiff had the right “to avail itself of waters carrying copper or other minerals in solution” *Id.* at 674.

The *Utah Copper* defendants had attempted to rely upon *Nephi Plaster*, which had been “cited to the effect that the term ‘mineral’ is not limited to metal or metalliferous deposits but **also includes petroleum and other liquids.**” *Id.* at 675 (emphasis added). While the court found defendants’ reliance on *Nephi Plaster* unpersuasive, it did so while expressly noting that the cited proposition – that the term “mineral” is not limited to metal or metalliferous deposits but **also includes petroleum and other liquids** – was a proposition “[t]hat may be conceded.” *Id.*

The *Utah Copper* defendants also had cited additional cases “to the effect that **oil and gas are minerals**” *Id.* (emphasis added). The court again reiterated that defendants’ assertion “may be conceded,” even though it ultimately failed to support defendants’ claims. *Id.*

The now “conceded” principal that the term “minerals” includes oil and gas was reaffirmed in *Western Development Company v. Nell*, 4 Utah 2d 112, 288 P.2d 452 (Utah 1955), where the court considered conveyance documents that granted and reserved “all

the coal, gold, silver, lead, copper, and other precious and valuable ores, minerals, mines and mining rights.” *Id.* at 453.

The *Western Development* case stemmed from the “problem of the interpretation of a deed, usually an old one, where ‘minerals’ or ‘mineral rights’ have been reserved and oil and gas have subsequently been discovered on the land;” a problem that had not previously arisen in Utah but had “been frequently treated in other jurisdictions.” *Id.* at 453-54.

The *Western Development* court’s consideration of the grants and reservations at issue was founded upon the fundamental understanding and acknowledgement that the term “minerals” **included** oil and gas:

Were the only question involved the construction of the first paragraphs of both the reservation and the grant in the instant case, we would have no trouble applying the majority rule that a **reservation of “minerals” retains the rights to oil and gas**, unless a contrary intention is manifested.

Id. at 454 (emphasis added) (citing *Nephi Plaster*).

The construction of the term “minerals” was not the only consideration in *Western Development*, however. Rather, since the intent of the parties controlled the construction of the particular conveyance instrument at issue and “the intention of the parties [could] be ascertained from the instrument,” the court elected not to invoke “arbitrary rules of law as to construction.” *Id.* Nevertheless, since the evidence of the intent of the parties was “equivocal” and there was no proof “by extrinsic evidence that the intention of the parties was other than to grant what is generally accepted as within the term ‘minerals,’” oil and gas were minerals included in the operative grants and reservations. *Id.* at 455.

2. The District Court Impermissibly Ignored the Statute's Plain Meaning.

Despite this 100 year history of this Court's consistent interpretation of the term "minerals" to include oil and gas, the district court failed in its mandate to construe Section 501(6)(a) by relying on the "plain language of the statute."

There is no question or doubt but that Section 501(6)(a) allows for the exercise of the powers of eminent domain and condemnation in connection with "the milling, smelting, or other reduction of ores, or the working of mines, coal mines, or mineral deposits, including minerals in solution." The district court should have been guided by this Court's direction in *Western Development*:

Were the only question involved the construction of the first paragraphs of both the reservation and the grant in the instant case, we would have no trouble applying the majority rule that **a reservation of "minerals" retains the rights to oil and gas**, unless a contrary intention is manifested.

288 P.2d at 454 (emphasis added).

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