2009

# Marion Energy, Inc. and State of Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration v. KFJ Ranch Partnership : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Again, the existence of contradictory authority interpreting the term “mineral” as either including or excluding a certain material reinforces the conclusion that its meaning is uncertain and defined by the context in which it is used. *See Carrier*, 2004 UT 98 at ¶ 34 (recognizing that the parties’ citation to contradictory authority in support of their position that “mineral” either includes or excludes gravel “merely reinforce[d] the conclusion that whether gravel is appropriately deemed a mineral depends on the context in which the term is used”). Accordingly, the authority cited by Marion/SITLA does not establish that “mineral” has a fixed and definite meaning, and the trial court was correct to examine the language of the condemnation statute to determine the scope and meaning of that term under Subsection 501(6)(a) of the condemnation statute.

**C. THE AUTHORITY CITED BY THE UPA DOES NOT SUPPORT THE VIEW THAT IN UTAH “MINERALS” INCLUDES OIL AND GAS.**

As it did with respect to the cases discussed above in Section A.1, the UPA overstates the significance of the Wyoming case of *Coronado Oil Co. v. Grieves*, 603 P.2d 406 (Wyo. 1979). (UPA Br. at 4-6.) Obviously, *Coronado* is not binding authority in Utah, but importantly the court’s analysis is not persuasive because it is clearly inconsistent with Utah Supreme Court jurisprudence. Moreover, as the UPA belatedly pointed out in its Corrected and Amended Brief, there is other, far more persuasive authority in Colorado and Montana that, more recently, runs counter to *Coronado*.

In *Coronado*, a split court held that the exploration for oil and gas is “mining” within the meaning of the Wyoming condemnation statutes in question dealing with the right to condemn a way of necessity over land in connection with mining. 603 P.2d at 412. At the outset, KFJ should point out that the UPA misstates the premise of *Coronado* when it states that “the Wyoming Supreme Court held that a power of condemnation for ‘minerals’ – in a statute very similar to the Act – included power to access an oil and gas well-site.” (UPA Br. at 5.) (Emphasis added.) Contrary to the UPA’s description of this case, the case involved a power of condemnation of “mining” – not of “minerals,” which is closer to what is at issue in this case.<sup>11</sup> *Coronado*, 603 P.2d at 411-12. Moreover, the

---

<sup>11</sup> As noted above in footnote 6, page 12, the issue of whether “mining” includes exploration for oil and gas was not raised before the trial court, and this Court does not address arguments brought for the first time on appeal unless the trial court committed plain error or exceptional circumstances exist. *Jacob*, 2009 UT 37 at ¶ 34. See also *infra* Section D, page 38.) Marion/SITLA did not argue below that the language in the condemnation statute relating to “mining” (as opposed to “mineral deposits”) gives rise to their power to condemn KFJ’s property for road access.

Wyoming statute is not “very similar” to the Utah condemnation statute at issue. Indeed, the Wyoming condemnation statute does not concern “minerals” or “mineral deposits” at all, and it does not involve the construction of the language at issue in this case under Utah Code Ann. section 78B-501(6)(a).<sup>12</sup>

The Wyoming court acknowledged the principle, followed in Utah, that “[a]s a general rule, statutes conferring the power of eminent domain are to be strictly construed in favor of landowners, so that no person will be deprived of the use and enjoyment of his property except by a valid exercise of the power.” *Coronado*, 603 P.2d at 410. But the court departed from this general principle and from Utah law by determining that “this doctrine does not preclude the reasonable and sound construction of such statutes in light of the objectives and purposes sought to be attained.” *Id.* at 410-11. The court noted that, at least in 1979, there was a “great public interest in an imminent need for energy,” stating, “[w]hile at the time of adoption of the constitution the concern was one of developing the economy and settlement of the state, the urgency has now become one of survival.” *Id.* at 411. On that basis, the court stated, “[w]e think it plain beyond any doubt that the intended purpose of the cited constitutional provision and statutes was to

---

<sup>12</sup> The UPA’s statement that “Wyoming’s eminent domain statutes like Utah’s do not identify minerals by type, but did refer to ‘mining’ and ‘minerals’” (UPA Br. at 5) is, at best, mistaken. The statute deals with the condemnation of a way of necessity over property as necessary for the use of tramways or mine truck haul roads required in the course of the business of mining or for the transportation of coal from any coal mine or railroad line. The only reference to “minerals” in the statutes addressed by the court was the provision that any way of necessity appropriated under the statute is for a surface easement only – it does not include any interest in the underlying minerals or mineral estate. *Coronado*, 603 P.2d at 408.

facilitate the development of our state's resources. We will hereafter construe the word 'mining' to include the exploration for oil and gas ....” *Id.*

In abandoning the principle that other courts, including Utah, have long followed, the Wyoming court ignored time-honored rules of statutory construction and the principle that courts have no authority to substitute their views for those expressed by the legislature in establishing public purposes for the exercise of eminent domain. While the UPA would have this Court follow the Wyoming Supreme Court in this regard, the court's ruling flies in the face of Utah jurisprudence to the effect that the condemnation statute must be strictly construed, that it is for the legislature to determine the public purposes for which the power of eminent domain may be exercised, that courts should follow time-honored rules of statutory construction, and that the term “minerals” in Utah has no fixed or definite meaning and what the term actually means depends on the context.

Not surprisingly, there was a dissent in which Justice Rooney attempted to remind the court of certain well-established principles it was flouting:

The power of eminent domain is one of the most harsh proceedings known to the law. Consequently, when the sovereign delegates this power to a political unit or agency, a strict construction must be given against the agency asserting the power.

*Id.* at 422. Further, the dissent noted:

[W]e cannot overlook the importance of private ownership of property in the maintenance of the capitalistic system under which this country operates. Indeed, such ownership is one of the fundamental differences between our democracy and communism. Although federal and eastern corporate ownership, as distinguished from local and family unit ownership, of Wyoming real property may have already 'steamrolled' to a

point wherein it is inevitable, and although full-scale development and utilization of the minerals and other natural resources of our state may be desirable and necessary, these ends should be attained within the scope of law and with full recognition of property and constitutional rights of others.

*Id.* at 417.<sup>13</sup>

Other neighboring states have not followed *Coronado*. In *McCabe*, for example, the Supreme Court of Montana recently was confronted with the same issue as that in *Coronado* – whether the exploration and development of a federal oil and gas lease is a “mine” that constitutes a “public use” for eminent domain purposes. 87 P.3d at 480. The court held that oil wells are not. *Id.* at 483. In distinguishing *Coronado*, the court noted that the eminent domain provision of Montana’s constitution – like Utah’s – does not allow the taking of private property for private ways of necessity, which may be obtained only by satisfying several criteria. *Id.* at 482.

Pertinent to this case, the Montana Supreme Court addressed the interpretation of powers of eminent domain, citing long-standing judicial authority, consistent with Utah jurisprudence, that “the eminent domain power being against common right, [] cannot be implied or inferred from vague or doubtful language, and that the right to exercise that power does not exist when made out only by argument or inference.” *Id.* at 481. Describing earlier Montana precedent, the court stated, “[t]here, a unanimous Court stated clearly and without equivocation that ‘[t]he legislature’s grant of the eminent

---

<sup>13</sup> The UPA also cites to *Amoco Prod. Co. v. Guild Trust*, 636 F.2d 261 (10th Cir. 1980), in support of its contention that a power of condemnation for “minerals” included power to access an oil and gas site. (UPA Br. at 5.) This case is merely another inapposite case involving the interpretation of a reservation of “minerals” in a railroad deed. *Amoco Prod.*, 636 F.2d at 263. See also *supra* at Section B, page 27.



domain power ... must be strictly construed.” *Id.*, (citing *City of Bozeman v. Vaniman*, 869 P.2d 790, 792 (Mont. 1994)). The court continued, “[b]ecause private real property ownership is a fundamental right under the Montana Constitution, ‘any statute which allows [the taking of] a person’s property must be given its plain interpretation, favoring the person’s fundamental rights.’” *Id.* See also *Coquina Oil Corp. v. Harry Kourlis Ranch*, 643 P.2d 519, 522 (Colo. 1982) (“[w]e have often held that narrow construction is the rule in determining the scope of the condemnation power delegated pursuant to legislative enactment.... ‘The authority to exercise (the power of condemnation), being against the common right to own and keep property, must be given expressly or by clear implication; it can never be implied from doubtful language.’”).

In analyzing the plain language of the Montana condemnation statute, the court determined that no public uses contained explicit language relating to oil and gas wells. *McCabe*, 87 P.3d at 483. The only eminent domain provisions relating to oil and gas were contained in the statutes governing oil and gas exploration, which involve underground storage of natural gas. *Id.* The court noted, “[h]ad the Montana Legislature intended to extend the power of eminent domain to encompass the development of oil wells, it easily could have done so in the portions of [the statutes] which apply to the oil and gas industry. It also could have done so in [the eminent domain statute].” *Id.* Thus, the court held that oil wells are not “mines” for purposes of eminent domain in Montana. *Id.*

KFJ contends that *McCabe* is far more persuasive authority in this case than *Coronado* for a number of reasons, not the least of which are (i) that the statutory scheme

in Montana is more similar to that of Utah's, in that there was no mention of oil and gas in the pertinent eminent domain statute addressing roads, yet there was a reference to authority to exercise eminent domain for oil and gas purposes in another statutory context addressing pipelines; and (ii) that the pertinent eminent domain principles relied upon and followed by the Supreme Court of Montana are in-step with Utah's, while Wyoming departs from those principles because of a perceived urgent need for imminent energy development at the time the case was decided that the court believed threatened the state's very survival.

Finally, the UPA argues that public policy considerations support the result the oil and gas industry seeks in this appeal, baldly stating, "The Act's articulated policy encourages the development of oil and gas." (UPA Br. at 6.) KFJ has been unable to locate any such policy articulated in the eminent domain statute. Furthermore, the UPA should raise its public policy considerations with the legislature because it is the legislature – not the courts – that, through the legislative process, should consider matters of public policy in this regard. *See Soriano*, 2008 UT App 188 at ¶ 10, n3. Indeed, this Court has long adhered to the principle that "if the right [to eminent domain] is not granted, either in terms or by necessary implication, then the courts are powerless to grant the relief [requested] ...." *Monetaire Mining Co.*, 174 P. at 175.

**D. THE UPA HAS IMPROPERLY RAISED AN ISSUE THAT WAS NOT ARGUED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.**

Marion/SITLA's argument to the trial court below was that the term "mineral deposits" in Utah Code Ann. section 78B-6-501(6)(a) includes "oil and gas" and provides

the authority to take KFJ's property to gain access to oil and gas leases. Marion/SITLA did not make the arguments below, as the UPA does in its amicus brief, that "mining" includes oil and gas operations and that the language "the working of mines" in Subsection 501(6)(a) also authorizes the taking power Marion/SITLA seek. Indeed, the UPA devotes several pages of its amicus brief to the history of mining and argues that oil and gas is susceptible to "mining," citing and addressing numerous historical cases and authorities in that regard. (UPA Br. at 7-18.)

The Court should not address the new arguments raised by the UPA for the first time on appeal, and KFJ should not be required to expend the cost associated in addressing these arguments. *See supra* at n.6 & n.11, pages 12 & 33. Furthermore, the cases cited by the UPA outside of the context of eminent domain are inapposite, and do not establish an "American Rule" that "mineral" always includes oil and gas and that "mining" includes oil and gas operations.

As discussed above, there is a rule of interpretation that finds the term "mineral," as used in a reservation of rights in a license, lease or deed, is presumed to include oil and gas, unless there is ambiguity on the face of the document. *See supra* at Section B, page 27. There is not, as the UPA argue, an "American Rule" that the term "mining" includes oil and gas operations or that oil and gas is universally considered a "mineral" in all circumstances, and particularly not as used in Utah's condemnation statute.

Indeed, with the exception of *Burke v. S. Pac. R.R. Co.*, 234 U.S. 669 (1914), the cases cited by the UPA in support of this proposition do not even consider the terms "mining" or "mineral" and whether oil and gas are included in those terms. At best, the

cases are merely instances where a court has used the phrase “oil and gas mining” when resolving a completely separate issue and in no way show the term “mining” includes oil and gas operations,<sup>14</sup> much less in all circumstances.<sup>15</sup> Moreover, none of the cited cases concern interpretation of condemnation statutes, and many of them concern licenses, leases or deeds – not statutes – where different considerations and standards apply.

Although the UPA does cite *Burke*, a 1914 decision in which the United States Supreme Court considered whether petroleum or mineral oil was included within the term

---

<sup>14</sup> *Kinney-Coastal Oil Co. v. Kieffer*, 277 U.S. 488 (1928), concerned a dispute between a landowner and a holder of a federal lease. The federal lease holder wished to enjoin the surface owner from platting and selling the surface area above its lease, where the federal lease holder had the right to use whatever surface area above its lease was necessary to extract oil and gas. *Id.* at 496. The UPA cited this case merely for the proposition that “[t]hroughout the case, the Court identifies the extraction operations as ‘mining operations’ and the equipment and facilities as ‘mining equipment’” – nothing more. (UPA Br. 8.)

Similarly, *Funk v. Haldeman*, 53 Pa. 229 (Pa. 1866), concerns a dispute between two parties regarding a private agreement that gave plaintiff the right to explore for oil and gas on defendant’s property and whether that right was (1) an exclusive right, and (2) whether the plaintiff had forfeited his rights by subletting those rights to other parties. The case can stand for nothing more than that the court refers to the parties’ activities as “oil and gas mining.”

Likewise, *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co.*, 185 P.2d 747 (Utah 1947), which the UPA so emphatically argues shows Utah adopts the American rule that development of oil and gas is mining, (UPA Br. 13), concerns title to a mineral lease and whether the holder had abandoned the lease. Again, it is cited merely because the language of the case references development of oil and gas as “mining for oil and gas” – nothing more.

<sup>15</sup> Although this issue is not properly before this court, it is notable that there are in fact numerous cases where courts have specifically found the term “mining” does not include oil and gas. See, e.g., *Guffey Petroleum Co. v. Murrell*, 53 So. 705, 711-712 (La. 1910); *Cornwell v. Buck & Stoddard, Inc.*, 82 P.2d 516, 518 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1938); *Carter v. Phillips*, 212 P. 747, 749-50 (Okla. 1923); *Hollingsworth v. Berry*, 192 P. 763, 763-65 (Kan. 1920); *Cortelyou v. Baker*, 187 P. 417 (Cal. 1920); *Lambert v. Pritchett*, 284 S.W. 2d 90, 91 (Ky. 1955); *Detlor v. Holland*, 49 N.E. 690, 692-93 (Ohio 1898).

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